IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRYSLER CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

SPIRO PITSIRELOS,

Respondent.

Case Number 90,533 Circuit Court Case No. 90-3084-CA-17 Fourth DCA Case Nos. 96-00514 and 96-00215

INITIAL BRIEF OF AMICI CURIAE

THE AMERICAN AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION AND THE ASSOCIATION OF INTERNATIONAL AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS

> GEORGE N. MEROS, JR. Florida Bar No. 0263321 MARY W. CHAISSON Florida Bar No. 948683 RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL, P.A. Post Office Box 10507 Tallahassee, Florida 32302

CERTIFICATE OF MEMBERSHIP OF AMICI CURIAE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Members of the American Automobile Manufacturers Association (the AAMA) and members of the Association of International Automobile Manufacturers (the AIAM) are adversely affected by the provisions of Florida's Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act being challenged in this brief. The AAMA's members manufacture over eighty percent of the motor vehicles manufactured in the United States. The AIAM is comprised of manufacturers, distributors, and importers of motor vehicles manufactured in the United States and abroad. Together, the members of the two Associations (hereinafter referred to as "manufacturers") market ninety-nine percent of the motor vehicles sold in Florida. They market their products in Florida to Florida consumers and are subject to the Act's provisions and its penalties.

Each member, as a price of selling its products in Florida, must submit to binding arbitration before the Florida New Motor Vehicle Arbitration Board, if a purchaser of one of its products chooses to pursue that avenue. Ch. 681, Fla. Stat. To obtain judicial review of an unfavorable Arbitration Board decision, each member must risk imposition of a \$25.00 per day continuing damage award on top of a pecuniary loss award. The continuing damage award alone can be several times more than the cost of the product in each particular case. Under current interpretations, it must also shoulder the burden of proving a negative.

The AAMA and the AIAM are interested in procedures and laws that are fair to manufacturers and consumers alike and that

provide some degree of certainty to their transactions in Florida. Because the provisions of the Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act (the Act), Chapter 681, Florida Statutes, challenged in this brief will be and have been used against the members to their detriment, the Associations have requested permission to appear as amici curiae and to file this brief on behalf of their members and in support of Chrysler's position.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Amici curiae, the AAMA and AIAM, adopt the Statement of the Case and the Statement of the Facts in the Brief of Petitioner CHRYSLER CORPORATION.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Several provisions of Florida's Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act (the Act), Chapter 681, Florida Statutes, are unconstitutional under the Constitution of the State of Florida and the United States Constitution and should be invalidated.

Subsection 12 of section 681.1095 is unconstitutional as it has been interpreted and applied by the District Courts of Appeal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in the decision which is the subject of this petition, and other district courts, have interpreted the section so as to place the burden of proof upon the manufacturer, rather than on the consumer, in judicial proceedings to determine whether the consumer's vehicle conforms to the manufacturer's warranties. The courts have required the manufacturer to prove that a nonconformity in the vehicle does not exist, even though the statute expressly mandates a "trial de novo" in the circuit court.

This interpretation, which conflicts with the most firmly entrenched principles of statutory construction, renders the statute unconstitutional. Such a result clothes the Arbitration Board's decision with precedential value, an unwarranted result. The Board's proceedings are and are intended to be informal, without the procedural protections afforded by the rules of evidence and civil procedure available to protect the parties in court proceedings. Requiring the manufacturer to shoulder the burden of proof on the basis of the decision of such an informal body violates the Constitutions. Additionally, requiring the

manufacturer to shoulder the burden of proof, which burden requires the manufacturer to prove a negative, in conjunction with the admissibility of the Board's decision in favor of the consumer under the statute, also violates the Constitutions.

Subsection 13 of section 681.1095 violates a manufacturer's constitutional right of access to Florida's courts. The subsection unnecessarily restricts a manufacturer's access by exposing a manufacturer to a \$25.00 per day continuing damage judgment as a cost of seeking judicial review. The provision requires the manufacturer to pay the consumer these damages on top of complete compensatory damages, attorney's fees, and costs, without any proof of loss or inconvenience to the consumer or bad faith of the manufacturer. Because of the long periods of time which court actions can take (this case is a perfect example), a manufacturer's exposure under the provision can amount to a substantial sum of money, many times more than the original cost of the vehicle at issue. Thus, the \$25.00 per day continuing damage award operates as a punitive damage award against the manufacturer. It punishes the manufacturer for seeking judicial intervention and review and deters manufacturers from seeking it, even where there are meritorious grounds for such intervention and review.

ARGUMENT

Amici curiae hereby adopt Chrysler's arguments with regard to the constitutionality of the provisions of Florida's Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act (the Act). As a complement to those arguments, amici present the following argument.

I. THE COURTS BELOW ERRED IN PLACING THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON CHRYSLER.

The trial court forced Chrysler, the defendant, to shoulder the burden of proof at trial despite the Act's express provision that judicial review of an Arbitration Board's decision is by "trial de novo." § 681.1095(12). This was error, as was the Fourth District's affirmation of that decision.¹

The legal term "trial de novo" has a clear, unmistakable meaning. <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> defines it as "[a] new trial or retrial had in which the whole case is retried as if no trial whatever had been had in the first instance." <u>Id.</u> at 1349 (5th ed. 1979). The Legislature is presumed to know and intend words to have their plain and ordinary meaning. <u>Florida State Racing Comm'n v. Bourquardez</u>, 42 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 1949). Technical legal words are deemed to have been statutorily used as they are legally defined. <u>Tampa v. Thatcher Glass Corp.</u>, 445 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1984); <u>Ocasio v. Bureau of Crimes Comp. Div'n of Workers' Comp.</u>, 408 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The Legislature, by using the term "trial de novo" clearly intended for the

¹Other district courts have made the same mistake. <u>See Aquiar</u> <u>v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 683 So. 2d 1158 (Fla.3d DCA 1996); <u>Mason v.</u> <u>Porsche Cars of N. Am.</u>, 621 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

proceedings to be a completely new trial of the issue--whether the vehicle has a nonconformity. The "whole case is retried as if no trial had been had in the first instance"--meaning the burden of proof stays where it was, with the consumer. The Legislature's use of the word "appeal" in subsection 12 does not change the fact that the Legislature intended for an entirely new trial to be held, as the term "trial de novo" includes a retrial as well as an initial trial.

Furthermore, interpreting the provision to shift the burden from the plaintiff/consumer to the defendant/ of proof manufacturer renders the provision unconstitutional. When courts are called upon to interpret statutes, their interpretation should be in accord with the plain meaning of the statute's words unless such an interpretation is unreasonable or would result in the statute being unconstitutional. Dade County v. Eastern Air Lines, Inc., 207 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 3d DCA), opinion adopted, 212 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1968). The courts' refusal to give meaning and substance to the words "trial de novo" makes this provision of the Act unconstitutional.

The rules of statutory construction mandate an interpretation placing the burden of proof on the plaintiff/consumer. Initially, no statute is to be construed to alter the common law farther than its words and circumstances import. State v. Egan, 287 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). Courts will infer that a statute in derogation of the common law was not intended to make any alteration other than what was specified and

plainly pronounced in clear, unequivocal terms. <u>Ady v. American</u> <u>Honda Fin. Corp.</u>, 675 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1996). Where a particular remedy is conferred by statute, it can be invoked only to the extent and in a manner prescribed by the statute. <u>Heard v.</u> <u>Mathis</u>, 344 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Statutes providing for summary remedies are strictly construed, and nothing is to be presumed that is not given by the statute. <u>Conner v. Alderman</u>, 159 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964).

The statute here is in derogation of the common law. Whereas before the enactment of the Act, a consumer was limited to breach of contract and warranty claims against the manufacturer, the Act provided the consumer with a summary remedy--an informal hearing before an appointed board.

The admissibility into evidence of the Arbitration Board's decision in the trial de novo in the circuit court is further proof that the Legislature intended for the plaintiff, the consumer, to shoulder the burden of proof in the circuit court. Indeed, the fact that the Board's decision is admissible as evidence of a nonconformity justifies the extra procedural step of the arbitration prior to court action. It would be inherently unfair to give the consumer the benefit of evidence of the Board's decision in his favor <u>and</u> to require the manufacturer to shoulder the burden of proof, which in effect is a burden to prove a negative--that a nonconformity does not exist.

Placing the burden of proof on the manufacturer is unnecessary to discourage frivolous appeals. The Act makes the

manufacturer liable for the consumer's attorney's fees and costs if it loses at trial, an amount likely to substantially exceed the cost of the vehicle at issue, which is more than enough to discourage frivolous appeals. § 681.1095(13) Moreover, the court is required to double and is empowered to triple the total amount of the award if it finds that the manufacturer acted in bad faith in seeking the court's intervention. § 681.1095(13).

The courts below erred in placing the burden of proof on Chrysler. The mandate and judgment should be vacated and Chrysler should be granted a new trial in which Plaintiff will have the burden of proving his vehicle does not conform to the manufacturer's warranty.

II. INTERPRETING THE STATUTE TO PLACE THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE MANUFACTURER RENDERS THE STATUTE INVALID AS VIOLATIVE OF DUE PROCESS.

The trial and district courts' interpretation of the statute, if correct, renders the statute unconstitutional as violative of due process. Proceedings before the Arbitration Board are informal. The rules of civil procedure and the rules of evidence do not apply. Witnesses may testify to hearsay statements and offer opinions. The arbitrators, who are appointed by the Attorney General, are not required to have any legal experience or training. § 681.1095(1) & (3). There is no 681.1095(8) & (9). jury. S Despite these procedural inadequacies, Plaintiff's (and the lower courts') interpretation would imbue the Board's decision with the same precedential value as a court proceeding. The manufacturer, in effect, would be

deprived of its right to a full and fair trial of the vehicle's alleged nonconformities with the procedural protections of the rules of evidence and civil procedure, a trial in which the plaintiff is required to prove the existence of the alleged nonconformities before the manufacturer is required to repurchase the vehicle.

The Act is in derogation of the common law. Prior to its enactment, a consumer could sue a manufacturer, the warrantor, for breach of product warranties. The consumer had certain rights, but so did the warrantor. The warrantor was entitled to defend itself in a court of law. The rules of evidence and civil procedure ensured that the proceedings were fair and balanced. The warrantor was not required to pay a fee for the right to appear and defend. Above all, it was not subjected to liability until after the plaintiff had proved a breach. The Act changed all that. In doing so, it deprived the manufacturer of the due process of law. It is unconstitutional and should be invalidated.

III. THE \$25 PER DAY CONTINUING DAMAGE PROVISION UNCONSTITUTIONALLY BURDENS A MANUFACTURER'S RIGHT OF ACCESS TO FLORIDA'S COURTS.

Subsection 13 of section 681.1095 offends the Constitution of the State of Florida by placing undue burdens on a manufacturer's right of access to the courts. The subsection requires a manufacturer who seeks judicial intervention and review of an Arbitration Board decision and fails to prevail to pay the consumer "continuing damages" of \$25 per day for every day the judicial intervention took.² These damages are awarded in addition to the full, compensatory damages awarded and in addition to the manufacturer shouldering the consumer's attorney's fees and costs.

Section 681.112 identifies what the recoverable damages are. "The court shall award a consumer who prevails in such action the amount of <u>any pecuniary loss</u>, litigation costs, reasonable attorney's fees, and appropriate equitable relief." § 681.112(1) (emphasis added). The pecuniary loss award provision allows the court to award the consumer an amount sufficient to reimburse him for any expenses incurred in obtaining alternative transportation as a result of the subject vehicle's nonconformance. <u>Black's Law</u> <u>Dictionary</u> defines "pecuniary loss" as a "loss of money, or of something by which money or something of money value may be acquired." <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 1018 (5th ed. 1979). This demonstrates that the cost of a replacement vehicle is recoverable as part of the consumer's compensable damages.

To obtain the "continuing damages" award, the consumer need not present any evidence that the delay him in any way caused

§ 681.1095(13) (emphasis added).

²The provision reads:

If a decision of the board in favor of the consumer is upheld by the court, recovery by the consumer shall include the <u>pecuniary value</u> of the award, <u>attorney's fees</u> incurred in obtaining confirmation of the award, and <u>all</u> <u>costs</u> and <u>continuing damages in the amount of \$25 per day</u> for each day beyond the 40-day period following the manufacturer's receipt of the board's decision.

inconvenience. Indeed, if the consumer presented evidence that expense for a replacement vehicle was incurred, the court could award compensatory damages for the expense and the consumer could still recover the continuing damages of \$25 per day.

Neither does the consumer need to present any evidence that the manufacturer acted in bad faith in seeking judicial intervention before the continuing damages provision applies. In fact, the statute requires the court to double and allows it to triple--the amount of the total award if the court determines that the manufacturer acted in bad faith. § 681.1095(13). This could result in the consumer recovering triple compensatory damages <u>and</u> \$75 per day in "continuing damages."

In effect, the continuing damages are a punitive damage award against the manufacturer as a punishment for exercising its right to judicial intervention and review of the Arbitration Board's decision. As such, it violates the United States Constitution. <u>See BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore</u>, 116 S. Ct. 1589 (1993); <u>TXO Prod. Corp. v. Alliance Resources Corp.</u>, 509 U.S. 443, 454 (1993). It cannot reasonably be argued that the provision is intended to deter frivolous court action, especially since there is no need for a showing of bad faith and there is a separate, express provision requiring the court to double the award if it finds the manufacturer acted in bad faith. The provision is enough to deter all but the most intrepid

manufacturer from availing itself of judicial intervention.³ The "continuing damages" provision places an undue burden on and unnecessarily restricts a manufacturer's right of access to the courts. Consequently, it is unconstitutional.

Article I, section 21 of the Constitution of the State of Florida guarantees: "The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay." Statutory provisions which unnecessarily burden or restrict a party's right of access to Florida's courts offend section 21 and are invalid. <u>See e.q.</u>, <u>Psychiatric Assocs.</u> <u>v. Siegel</u>, 610 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1992); <u>Lasky v. State Farm Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 296 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1974); <u>Ovadia v. CRH Props.</u>, 586 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), <u>aff'd</u>, 610 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1992); <u>G.B.B.</u> <u>Investments, Inc. v. Hinterkopf</u>, 343 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

The constitutional right of access to Florida's courts sharply restricts the Legislature's power to create financial barriers to asserting claims or defenses in court. "Although courts have upheld reasonable measures, such as filing fees, financial preconditions that constitute a substantial burden on a litigant's right to have his case heard are disfavored." <u>Siegel</u>, 610 So. 2d at 424; <u>G.B.B.</u>, 343 So. 2d at 901. Fundamentally, the Legislature may abrogate or restrict a party's right of access to the courts only if it provides:

³The risk is compounded by the lower courts' interpretation of subsection 12, which requires the manufacturer to prove a negative.

1) a reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit, or 2) a showing of an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of the right, and finds that there is no alternative method of meeting such public necessity.

<u>Siegel</u>, 610 So. 2d at 424 (emphasis in original) (citing <u>Kluger</u> <u>v. White</u>, 281 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973), and <u>Smith v. Department of</u> <u>Ins.</u>, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1088 (Fla. 1987)).

Psychiatric Associates v. Siegel, 610 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1992), is determinative. In Siegel, the Court declared three statutes unconstitutional because they unnecessarily restricted a party's right of access to the courts. The statutes required physicians who wanted to sue members of medical review boards to post security for the opposing parties' attorney's fees and costs before a responsive pleading would be due. Id. at 421. Although the Court found the bond requirement did not totally abrogate the right of access, it nevertheless held the statutes impermissibly restricted the plaintiff's right of access to the courts. Id. at The statutes were unconstitutional because the bond 423-24. requirement infringed on the plaintiff's fundamental right of access to the courts without providing an alternative remedy or commensurate benefit and without requiring a showing that no alternative method existed for meeting the medical malpractice crisis. The requirement also infringed on the plaintiff's due process rights by not being reasonably related to the legislative goal of preventing frivolous lawsuits and was arbitrarily and capriciously applied. Id. at 421.

Subsection 13, like the statutes in Siegel, restricts an auto manufacturer's right of access by exposing a manufacturer to what are essentially punitive damages although other measures are already in place to fulfill the legislative goal of protecting the consumer from frivolous judicial intervention. Here, the manufacturer is left with no reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit. Neither has there been a showing of an overpowering public necessity for abolishing a manufacturer's right to defend itself in a court of law.⁴ To the extent there is a need to "level the playing field," as Plaintiff will argue, the other provisions in the Act which are not being challenged here are sufficient. For example, the Arbitration Board decision is admissible into evidence. § 681.1095(9). Additionally, an unsuccessful manufacturer must pay the consumer's attorney's fees and costs. § 681.1095(13). Finally, the trial court shall double and may triple the full award if it finds the manufacturer acted in bad faith in seeking judicial intervention. § 681.1095(13). Consequently, the "continuing damages" provision cannot be justified on public policy grounds.

Plaintiff may argue that the continuing damage provision is necessary as a liquidated damages provision because the consumer is inconvenienced by being without a vehicle during the period of

⁴Plaintiff's pro-consumer arguments ignore the reality that the costs of doing business, including the costs of buying back vehicles which may or may not be nonconforming, are passed on to all consumers in the form of higher product costs. It is poor public policy to unjustly benefit a few consumers at the expense of all consumers.

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