## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## **CHRYSLER CORPORATION,**

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 90,533 Circuit Court Case No. 90-3084-CA-17 Fourth DCA Case Nos. 96-00514, 96-00215

vs.

SPIRO PITSIRELOS,

**Respondent.** 

## ANSWER BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF FLORIDA

## **ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL**

Janet L. Smith Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 339849 Office of the Attorney General Lemon Law Arbitration Program The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 488-4830

# **

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Attorney General adopts the Statement of the Case and Facts contained in the Answer Brief by Pitsirelos.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Chrysler and the Amici manufacturer trade associations challenge the constitutionality of various provisions of Chapter 681, Florida Statutes, Florida's "Lemon Law," on grounds ranging from violation of due process and the right of access to the courts to separation of powers. A specific provision challenged is Section 681.1095(13), Florida Statutes, which governs the damages recoverable by a consumer when a manufacturer unsuccessfully appeals a decision of the New Motor Vehicle Arbitration Board.

Chrysler and the Amici further claim that the appeal process intended by the Legislature, as set forth at Sections 681.1095(10) and (12), Florida Statutes, and as consistently interpreted by three of the five District Courts of Appeal, violates manufacturer due process rights. The Fourth District Court of Appeals, after thoroughly reviewing these issues and applying this Court's wellestablished tests for determining constitutionality, properly concluded that none of the arguments raised by Chrysler or the Amici were sufficient to overcome the strong presumption in favor of the validity of the statute.

Chrysler's argument to this Court is really a request for a judicial rewrite of the statute to return it to its pre-1988 version, when the consumer's only recourse was to sue the manufacturer in court. The challenged statutory provisions do not replace any preexisting common law or statutory causes of action, or defenses, manufacturers might have had; there is no violation of due process, and the Legislature's creation of the New Motor Vehicle Arbitration Board within an agency of the executive branch of government is expressly sanctioned by Florida's Constitution. There being no proven constitutional infirmity, the statute should be upheld and the Opinion of the Fourth District Court affirmed.

4

## **ARGUMENT**

## I. IT IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL TO REQUIRE THE PARTY SEEKING RELIEF FROM AN UNFAVORABLE ARBITRATION DECISION TO BEAR THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON APPEAL.

#### A. Background

In 1988, the Legislature substantially revised Chapter 681, Florida Statutes, Florida's

"Lemon Law," to create state-administered mandatory arbitration to resolve motor vehicle

warranty disputes arising between consumers and manufacturers. Ch. 88-95, Laws of Fla. The

law was again amended in 1992. Ch. 92-88, Laws of Fla. The Legislative intent is set forth in

Section 681.101, as follows:

The Legislature recognizes that a motor vehicle is a major consumer purchase and that a defective motor vehicle undoubtedly creates a hardship for the consumer. The Legislature further recognizes that a duly franchised motor vehicle dealer is an authorized service agent of the manufacturer. It is the intent of the Legislature that a good faith motor vehicle warranty complaint by a consumer be resolved by the manufacturer within a specified period of time. It is further the intent of the Legislature to provide the statutory procedures whereby the consumer may receive a replacement motor vehicle, or a full refund, for a motor vehicle which cannot be brought into conformity with the warranty provided for in this chapter. However, nothing in this chapter shall in any way limit or expand the rights or remedies which are otherwise available to a consumer under any other law.

The statute requires that, if a manufacturer cannot conform the vehicle to the warranty by correcting a nonconformity, which is defined at Section 681.102(15), Florida Statutes, as a "defect or condition that substantially impairs the use, value or safety of the motor vehicle..." within a reasonable number of attempts, the consumer is entitled to be returned to the status quo ante by virtue of receipt of a full refund or replacement vehicle, with an offset to the manufacturer

for the consumer's use of the vehicle. §681.104(2), Fla. Stat. If the manufacturer fails to provide the required remedy, the consumer must request arbitration by the New Motor Vehicle Arbitration Board as a precondition to filing a civil action for the remedy. §§681.109, 681.1095(4), Fla. Stat. If the consumer's claim is deemed eligible for arbitration, the manufacturer is compelled to submit to the arbitration. §681.1095(5), Fla. Stat. Decisions of the Arbitration Board are final and binding on the parties unless appealed to the circuit court. §681.1095(10), Fla. Stat. The appeal to the circuit court is by trial de novo, and is invoked by the appealing party filing a petition "stating the action requested and the grounds relied upon for appeal." §681.1095(12), Fla. Stat. The decision of the Arbitration Board is admissible in evidence in the circuit court proceeding. §681.1095(9), Fla. Stat.

If a manufacturer appeals a decision of the Arbitration Board to the circuit court and the board's decision is upheld, Section 681.1095(13), Florida Statutes provides:

If a decision of the board in favor of the consumer is upheld by the court, recovery by the consumer shall include the pecuniary value of the award, attorneys fees incurred in obtaining confirmation of the award, and all costs and continuing damages in the amount of \$25 per day for each day beyond the 40-day period following the manufacturer's receipt of the board's decision. If a court determines that the manufacturer acted in bad faith in bringing the appeal or brought the appeal solely for the purpose of harrassment or in complete absence of a justiciable issue of law or fact, the court shall double, and may triple, the amount of the total award.

### **B.** Burden of Proof on Appeal.

Chrysler urges reversal of the well-reasoned decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals rendered below, and the decisions of two other District Courts, establishing that the burden of proof in arbitration appeals filed by manufacturers pursuant to Sections 681.1095(10) and (12), Florida Statutes, rests upon the petitioning manufacturer. While Chrysler attempts to cloak its argument in constitutional terms, what Chrysler truly seeks is a judicial rewrite of the post-arbitration appeal process established by the Legislature.

Chrysler seeks to have the burden of going forward and the ultimate burden of persuasion in appeal proceedings under Chapter 681 remain with the consumer when a manufacturer petitions for relief from having to comply with an unfavorable decision of the arbitration board. Such an interpretation is contrary to the overall remedial intent of the statute. The Fourth District rejected Chrysler's argument and adopted the interpretation applied by its sister courts in its holding:

> We find no error in the trial court's recognizing that Appellant had the burden of proof in the trial. Under the statutory scheme, the trial, albeit before a jury, is the method by which a losing manufacturer seeks relief from the arbitrators' decision. The arbitration board decision is introduced in the de novo trial and is presumed to be correct. Aguiar v. Ford Motor Co., 683 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Mason v. Porsche Cars of N. America, 621 So.2d 719 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 629 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1993). We have considered General Motors Corp. Pontiac Motor Div. v. Neu, 617 So.2d 406 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) and deem it inapposite. As the court recognized in Mason, "The benefits and importance of the compulsory arbitration process would be minimized if the simple filing of a petition would force the successful party in arbitration to seek affirmative relief in the circuit court." Mason at 721. The legislature has deemed the circuit court action as an "appeal" from an adverse arbitration decision. As in any appeal, it is the appellant's burden to demonstrate any error or abuse of discretion to the review tribunal. No other interpretation of this statutory scheme is reasonable.

Chrysler Corporation v. Pitsirelos, 689 So. 2d 1132,1133-34 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In a recent review of a hybrid form of judicial review of medical malpractice arbitration awards, in *St. Mary's Hospital Inc. & Women's Health Services, Inc. v. Phillipe,* 22 Fla.L.Weekly D1853, 1855 (Fla. 4th DCA July 30, 1997), the Fourth District Court noted that "the kind of

Chrysler asks this Court to ignore the clear intent of the statutory appeal provisions and apply the traditional, Black's Law Dictionary definitions of "appeal" and "trial de novo," because, according to Chrysler, to apply the legislative intent is too confusing when assessing the burden of proof. In support of its contention, Chrysler cites to several opinions of the appellate courts of other states, but fails to mention this Court's Opinion in *Young v. Department of Community Affairs*, 625 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1993), which addressed a very similar statutory scheme.

*Young* addressed the issue of which party bears the burden of going forward and the ultimate burden of persuasion in an "appeal" to the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission (Commission) pursuant to Section 380.07, Florida Statutes (1987). The Youngs sought and were awarded permits by Monroe County to remove vegetation and raise nursery stock on their Big Pine Key property, an area previously designated by the state as an area of critical state concern. Because the permits constituted development orders, copies were transmitted to the Department of Community Affairs (Department) pursuant to Section 380.07(2), Florida Statutes (1987).

The Department appealed those orders to the Commission, also pursuant to Section 380.07(2). That statute provided that "appeals" of local government orders involving areas of critical state concern shall be to the Commission. Section 380.07(3), Florida Statutes (1987), required the Commission to hold a hearing pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. The hearing officer ruled that the burden of proof on the Department's appeal would be on the

standard for judicial review of generic arbitration awards...can be varied by the legislature in special arbitration statutes of the kind involved here. This is, after all, substantive legislation where the powers of the legislature are plenary, subject only to constitutional limitations and the burden of clarity."

Youngs. The Youngs refused to participate in the proceeding and failed to present any evidence. The hearing officer ruled in favor of the Department on the basis that the Youngs failed to carry their burden of proof. The ruling was upheld by the Commission and subsequently affirmed by the Third District Court of Appeal. This Court reversed the Third District, stating:

> By designating the procedure in subsection (2) an appeal while providing that the hearing in subsection (3) will be pursuant to the provisions of chapter 120, the Legislature has created an internal ambiguity as to what type of proceeding is encompassed by section 380.07, and, consequently, which party bears the burden of persuasion and going forward in the proceeding.

*Id.* at 833.

This Court held that the <u>type</u> of proceeding intended was a hearing de novo, concluding that the term "appeal" as used in the statute "must be interpreted in its 'broadest, non-technical sense...to mean an application to a higher authority." *Id.* This Court rejected the holdings of the hearing officer, the Commission and the District Court that the Youngs, as permit applicants, carried the burden of proof before the Commission.

In *Young*, the Department sought reversal of the development order as "illegal and violative of the Monroe County Land Development Regulations and Comprehensive Plan." *Id.* This Court found that, "the effect of the Department's 'appeal' to the Commission was to 'stay the effectiveness' of an otherwise valid order." *Young* at 835. The Court concluded that, since the Department was the party asserting the affirmative that the development order was not in accordance with the cited statutes, "the ultimate burden of persuasion and the initial burden of going forward with the evidence rested on the Department." *Id.* 

Proceedings before the arbitration board and appeals therefrom are exempt from the

provisions of Chapter 120. §681.1095(11), Fla. Stat. The decision of the arbitration board is final and binding upon all parties unless appealed by petition to the circuit court within the time prescribed by the statute. §681.1095(10), Fla. Stat. Thus, as in *Young*, the effect of a petition filed by a manufacturer in the circuit court is to stay the effectiveness of the board's otherwise valid order. The affirmative relief sought by Chrysler was relief from having to comply with the board's decision; thus, applying the reasoning in *Young*, Chrysler was the party asserting the affirmative in the circuit court and the burden of proof was properly placed upon Chrysler.

The concurring opinion of Justice Barkett in Young is instructive:

I would harmonize the various statutes as follows: By using the word "appeal" in both sections 380.07(2) and 120.57(1)(b)(3), the Legislature indicated that the Petitioner has the ultimate burden of persuasion and that the decision by the local government is entitled to a presumption of validity. The burden of going forward, while borne initially by the party seeking review, may shift back and forth depending on the evidence presented.... However, by stating that the hearing should be held pursuant to chapter 120, the Legislature also has indicated that the hearing should encompass more than just the record below.

Young at 838 (Citations omitted).

Justice Barkett's concurring opinion in *Young, supra,* and the construction applied by the majority of the Court therein is not dissimilar to the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal construing the appeal provisions of Florida's Lemon Law in *Mason v. Porsche Cars North America, Inc.,* 621 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 5th DCA), *rev. denied,* 629 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1993). The manufacturer in that case made an argument similar to Chrysler's, urging application of the traditional definition of "trial de novo" and ignoring the legislature's use of the term "appeal." The Fifth District rejected the argument on the basis of sound rules of statutory construction.

The manufacturer states that "de novo" means to try a matter anew, as if the same had not been heard before and as if no decision had been previously rendered. However, section 681.1095(13), Florida Statutes [1991] does not only use the term "trial de novo" but also uses the term "appeal," which by its normal definition means a review of a lower tribunal's decision. Admittedly, section 681.1095(13) is inartfully drafted but it should not be interpreted so as to lead to an absurd result.

## 621 So. 2d at 722.<sup>3</sup>

Thus, as to the burden of proof, the Mason court harmonized the statute as follows:

Although the trial court characterizes section 681.1095, Florida Statutes (1991) as ambiguous, the statute is clear that once the arbitration board makes its findings, the aggrieved party may appeal to the circuit court. Although most appellate proceedings do not include a trial or evidentiary hearing, the statutory appellate procedure for Florida's lemon law authorized a trial de novo. Nevertheless, it is generally the burden of the Petitioner to show that the lower tribunal erred....

Section 681.1095(13) provides that the appealing party must state the action requested and the grounds relied upon for appeal. This indicates that the appealing party has the initial burden of going forward with the evidence in a trial de novo governed by the rules of civil procedure, and the overall burden of persuasion remains on the Petitioner. The benefits and importance of the compulsory arbitration process would be minimized if the simple process of filing a petition could force the successful party in arbitration to seek affirmative relief in the circuit court. If the manufacturer prevailed before the arbitration board, surely the manufacturer would not argue it had the burden on appeal to prove the correctness of the board's decision as the plaintiff in a trial de novo. Yet the manufacturer considers it appropriate to make the consumer seek affirmative relief in both the administrative and judicial forum, regardless of what transpires before the arbitration board.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The *Mason* opinion references §681.1095(13), Fla. Stat. (1991), which was renumbered in 1992 to the current §681.1095(12), but was not otherwise amended.

621 So. 2d at 721-722.<sup>4</sup>

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